RECEIVED 03-27-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2022AP1350-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEREMY JOSEPH HAMILTON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

Page 2 of 23

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the State breached the plea agreement by stating that the "landscaped had changed" after it entered into the plea agreement, and implying that it was making the agreed-upon sentencing recommendation only because it was "ethically bound" to do so.

The circuit court found that although the State came "dangerously close" to a breach, any potential breach was "technical which would have been cured by the later explanation." (R.163:25; App.88).

The court of appeals agreed that, "this is a 'very, very close' case." *State v. Jeremy Joseph Hamilton*, No. 2022AP11350-CR, unpublished slip op. ¶14 (WI Ct. App. Mar. 1, 2023) (App.13). However, it found that, "even close cases have to be decided one way or another, and in this case, Hamilton has failed to convince us the court erred in determining the State did not materially and substantially breach the plea agreement." (*Id.*).

This Court is asked to find that the State breached the plea agreement, and to reverse and remand for a resentencing hearing, or alternatively, for a *Machner* hearing so that he may complete his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.¹

¹ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979) (defendant must request evidentiary hearing in an ineffective assistance of counsel claim).

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 4 of 23

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

A defendant has a constitutional right to enforcement of a plea agreement. Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971). When a negotiated sentencing recommendation is part of the plea agreement, a plea breach occurs if the State fails to convey that recommendation, or makes comments "implicitly conveying the message that it is questioning the wisdom of the plea agreement." State v. Williams, 2002 WI 1, ¶39, 249 Wis. 2d 492, 637 N.W.2d 733.

In Mr. Hamilton's case, both the circuit court and court of appeals emphasized that this was "dangerously close" or a "very, very close" case before ruling in favor of the State. Yet, a finding that this was a dangerously close case should have resulted in a ruling in Mr. Hamilton's favor. In *State v. Williams*, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶6, this Court declined to adopt a "close case" rule for evaluating plea breaches, after finding that it "would incorrectly apply an evidentiary standard for persuasion as a standard of review for questions of law."

The *Williams*' ruling regarding the "close case" rule should be revisited. The rule was incorrectly argued as an evidentiary burden of persuasion. But "close case" rule is not an evidentiary standard of persuasion. It is a legal standard of review. Mr. Hamilton asks the Court to join the federal courts and other jurisdictions in holding that, on review of an alleged plea breach, courts should construe

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 5 of 23

ambiguities against the government. See In re Altro, 180 F.3d 372, 375 (2d Cir. 1999).

This Court's review is warranted because *Williams* is "ripe for reexamination." Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(e). Mr. Hamilton's case likewise "calls for the application of a new doctrine" in Wisconsin, and therefore, review is warranted under Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)1.

Even if the Court does not ultimately adopt a close case rule—or similar rule requiring courts to resolve ambiguities in favor of the defendant—in plea breach cases, it should still reverse the lower courts in Mr. Hamilton's case because the State unambiguously breached the plea agreement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Hamilton accepted a plea agreement whereby he would plead to amended charges, and in return, the State would make a specific sentencing recommendation. The State promised to recommend an overall disposition of three years of probation with an imposed and stayed prison sentence of two years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (R.91:2).

On July 6, 2021, the Sheboygan County Circuit Court held a plea and sentencing hearing, the Honorable Daniel J. Borowski presiding. (R.140). The court engaged Mr. Hamilton in a plea colloquy, and accepted his plea. (R.140:16-33). The court then asked

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 6 of 23

the State if it was going to play audio of the jail calls between Mr. Hamilton and the victim that were referenced in the criminal complaint. (R.140:34). The State answered no, but offered to provide the court with the calls. (R.140:35).

The court initially determined that it would move forward to sentencing. (R.140:35). The State began its remarks. The State noted that Mr. Hamilton was not revoked for this case, and had spent approximately a year in jail. (R.140:36-37). The State asserted that probation was "a closed [sic] case, but I don't think we're necessarily past the threshold consideration of probation, at least with what we have here." (R.140:36). Defense counsel then made initial sentencing remarks. At that point, the court determined that it would not sentence Mr. Hamilton until after it had reviewed the jail calls. (R.140:41-43). The court would hear further argument and allocution at an adjourned sentencing hearing. (R.140:43).

On August 19, 2021, the court held the adjourned sentencing hearing. (R.122:1-44; App.19-62). At the outset of the hearing, the court summarized the plea agreement, including the State's recommendation. (R.122:4-5; App.22-23). Then, a lengthy exchange about a pending case took place:

[PROSECUTOR]: Judge, I -- the State would first note that -- or rather would stand by its recommendation, noting that it's ethically bound by the recommendation in this case. That be -- but I would suggest that the landscape has changed between our previous hearing and this one. Such

that, I'm ethically bound to the recommendation, and I would strongly --

THE COURT: Well, what landscape is that?

[PROSECUTOR]: Your Honor, the defendant has been charged with additional felonies² from --dating before this case, for an incident that happened before this case was charged. It was not brought to my attention until after our previous hearing. He was charged for those incidents, and the Victim in this case is currently -- is sitting in jail on serious felony charges as well. So I'm ethically bound by the recommendation and would ask that the Court follow it, but beyond that—

THE COURT: Well, but I -

[PROSECUTOR]: -- I have no further argument.

THE COURT: There's nothing that prevents you - I -- first of all, you make your -- whatever recommendation you want. And obviously, for the record, the Court was very concerned, and has been very concerned about the State's recommendations in this case, and the plea deal that was struck, that's no secret.

(R.122:8-9; App.26-27).

The court noted that it had been critical of the plea agreement from the outset, and stated that its role as the sentencing court was to have "accurate,

 $^{^2}$ The State used the plural "felonies" and "charges," but it was later clarified that there was a single charge. (R.122:19; App.37).

complete, and current information." (R.122:10; App.28).

[PROSECUTOR]: And Your Honor, my argument in that regard is for purposes of recognizing that the State's recommendation is what it is, and the State stands by it, recognizing that the landscape has changed. I would ask that you follow it, and I would note -- or would suggest that the Court has everything before it, and has analyzed everything that the State would be referencing as argument. So the State would ask that you follow the recommendation with no further arguments.

THE COURT: Except I don't -- what – you're very cryptically telling me he's been charged with something else and I –

[PROSECUTOR]: And Judge, I don't want to tread over my plea agreement, so I would just ask that you follow the recommendation.

(R.122:11; App.29).

The court continued to press for more information. (R.122:13; App.31).

THE COURT: Well, I mean, I'm – I'm just mystified, again. I've been mystified a lot lately. 'Cause you're saddling on to the trial court, I've got a State that won't -- that claims he's going to breach a plea agreement if you tell me he picked up additional charges. I don't know where that comes from, you honor your plea agreement by making your recommendation.

(R.122:14; App.32).

The court noted its impression that a "cloud" had been cast over the hearing.

The State has raised a specter and it's cast a cloud in part over the sentencing, by saying there is something more I should know, but I can't tell you because it could jeopardize the recommendation they're making. And I think that's a worse situation than finding out what it is and determining if it should be any weight at all.

(R.122:17; App.35).

Finally, the court directed the State to provide the information. (R.122:19; App.37). The State indicated that the charge was manufacture or delivery of cocaine between five and fifteen grams, as a repeater. See State v. Jeremy Joseph Hamilton, Sheboygan County Case No. 2021CF000495.³ The alleged offense occurred two months before the incident in the case at hand. (Id). The court asked the State to clarify the terms of the plea agreement. The State affirmed the agreement, and made no further argument. (R.122:21; App.39).

The court rejected probation, and instead imposed an overall disposition of four years of imprisonment, with two years of initial confinement

³ The complaint was filed on July 9, 2021. The offense date was listed as May 15, 2020—two months before the incident in the case at hand. Wisconsin Circuit Court Access (WCCA), https://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetail.html?caseNo=2021CF0004 95&countyNo=59&index=0&mode=details.

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 10 of 23

followed by two years of extended supervision. (R.122:37-38; App.55-56).

Mr. Hamilton filed a postconviction motion, in which he requested resentencing based on the State's breach of the plea agreement. He argued that the State violated the principles in *Williams*, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶38, when it "disowned and backed away from" the negotiated sentencing recommendation. (R.146:8). He further argued that his attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel when counsel did not object to the breach. (R.146:11-12). On July 13, 2022, and July 19, 2022, the court held two nonevidentiary hearings. (R.168, R.163:1-33; App.64-96).

At the close of the July 19, 2022, hearing, the court made an oral ruling. The court stated that the case was "dangerously close" and that it had gone "back and forth on this." (R.163:9; App.72, R.163:15; App.78). The court stated that, "every time I go through the authorities, I somewhat flip flop, because I do think this case is that close." (R.163:18; App.81). The court found that the State's comments about the landscape having changed were not the "best words," but that they did not "in and of themselves create a breach." (R.163:22; App.85). The court found that the State's repeated comments about being "ethically bound" to the agreement were "problematic." (Id.). However, the court concluded that the State said enough to "save it" by asking the court to follow the recommendation. (R.163:23-25; App.86-88).

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 11 of 23

Mr. Hamilton appealed. By decision and order dated March 1, 2023, the court of appeals affirmed. State v. Jeremy Joseph Hamilton, No. 2022AP11350-CR, unpublished slip op. (App.3-18). The court of appeals stated that, "[a]s the circuit court noted, this is a 'very, very close' case. That said, even close cases have to be decided one way or another, and in this case, Hamilton has failed to convince us the court erred in determining the State did not materially and substantially breach the plea agreement." (Id., ¶14; App.13). The court of appeals held that, "[w]hile the prosecutor was inartful in his choice of terms, i.e., that 'the landscape has changed' since the plea hearing and 'ethically bound' to the sentencing recommendation he had agreed to as part of the plea agreement, he stood clearly and unwaveringly behind the agreement." (Id., ¶18; App.15).

ARGUMENT

The State breached the plea agreement by stating that the "landscape had changed" after it entered into the plea agreement, and implying that it was making the agreed-upon recommendation only because it was "ethically bound" to do so.

A. Legal principles and standard of review.

A defendant has a constitutional right to fulfillment of a plea agreement. *Santobello*, 404 U.S. at 262. A "material and substantial" breach of a plea agreement provides grounds for a defendant to seek

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 12 of 23

resentencing before a different judge. Williams, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶38. "A material and substantial breach is a violation of the terms of the agreement that defeats the benefit for which the accused bargained." Id. A defendant is not required to prove that a breach was intentional. That a breach "may have been inadvertent does not lessen its impact." State v. Howard, 2001 WI App 137, ¶20, 246 Wis. 2d 475, 630 N.W.2d 244.

Although the State isnot required enthusiastically present a negotiated sentencing recommendation, it "may not render less than a neutral recitation of the terms of the plea agreement." State v. Poole, 131 Wis. 2d at 364, 394 N.W.2d 909. In addition, "[e]nd runs" around a plea agreement are prohibited. State v. Hanson, 2000 WI App 10, ¶ 24, 232 Wis. 2d 291, 606 N.W.2d 278. The State breaches the plea agreement by "implicitly conveying the message that it is questioning the wisdom of the plea agreement." Williams, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶39. A prosecutor's overt affirmation of the plea agreement is not always sufficient to overcome the prosecutor's covert message to the circuit court that a more severe sentence is warranted. Id., ¶51. If the State violates its agreement, it is irrelevant that the remarks may not have influenced the sentencing judge. Santobello, 404 U.S. at 262-63.

On appeal, the historical facts are upheld unless clearly erroneous. *Williams*, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶5. Whether the State's conduct constituted a material

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 13 of 23

and substantial a breach of the plea agreement is a question of law, reviewed de novo. *Id*.

B. The State breached the plea agreement.

The State's comments at Mr. Hamilton's sentencing hearing breached the plea agreement by conveying to the court that it was questioning the wisdom of the plea agreement. The State asserted that the "landscape had changed" between plea and sentencing, but conceded that, despite the change, it was "ethically bound" to stand by its agreement.

The State would first note that -- or rather would stand by its recommendation, noting that it's ethically bound to the recommendation in this case. That be -- but I would suggest that the landscape has changed between our previous hearing and this one. Such that, I'm ethically bound to the recommendation, and I would strongly -- [the court interjecting]

(R.122:8; App.26).

Subsequently, the State did not make any effort explain why the recommendation was appropriate. Instead. after casting doubt the State made further recommendation. no argument. The State asserted, "[s]o I'm ethically bound by the recommendation and would ask that the Court follow it, but beyond that - - [Court interjecting — I have no further argument." (R.122:9; App.27).

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 14 of 23

These comments implied to the court that the State had reservations about the plea agreement, and may not have entered into the agreement had it known about the new case. As the circuit court itself acknowledged, the State "raised a specter [sic]" and "cast a cloud in part" over the sentencing hearing. (R.122:17; App.35).

In Williams, 249 Wis. 2d 492, this Court found implicit breach despite the State's explicit endorsement of the negotiated recommendation. There, the State discussed the victim's opinion and findings of the pre-sentence investigation report in a less-than-neutral manner. Id., ¶45. Defense counsel objected, and in response, the State told the court that it was not adopting the recommendations of the other parties. Id., ¶29. The court concluded that the State's argument indirectly and implicitly advocated for a more severe sentence than it had bargained during its sentencing remarks. *Id.*, ¶¶48-49. The court held that, the State "undercut the essence of the plea agreement" which was to recommend probation. Id., ¶46. The impression that the State was backing away from the plea agreement was furthered by the fact that the prosecutor began her comments to the sentencing court by stating, "[w]hen Mr. Williams entered his plea. . .we had told the Court that we would be recommending...that he be placed on probation, that he pay arrearages and pay current child support." *Id.*, ¶49 (emphasis in original). The Court took issue with the words "would be," finding that they "intimate that a change of the State's plans would be revealed." *Id*.

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 15 of 23

The facts of Mr. Hamilton's case rise at least to the level of *Williams*. Although the State recited the terms of its recommendation, as in *Williams*, it did so while using language that distanced itself from its recommendation. It implied that the recommendation was something from the past, and the "landscape had changed" since then. To be clear, Mr. Hamilton does not now argue that the State was precluded from informing the court of the new case. *See State v. Liukonen*, 2004 WI App 157, ¶10, 276 Wis. 2d 64, 686 N.W.2d 689. In fact, had the State noted the case in a matter of fact manner, this would have avoided the prolonged exchange with the court amplifying the case and distancing the State from the plea agreement. ⁴

In the court of appeals, Mr. Hamilton made an extensive comparison of his facts to *State v. Poole*, 131 Wis. 2d at 364, but the court of appeals ignored *Poole*. In *Poole*, the defendant pleaded guilty to burglary. The State agreed to recommend a fine. At sentencing, the State asked the court to impose a fine, "but noted that this recommendation was agreed to before we knew of the other instances. But that is our agreement." *Id.* at 360. The *Poole* court held that this

⁴ It is worth noting, however, that the Sheboygan County District Attorney's Office was the prosecuting entity in both cases. The State chose to file a new charge in the month-and-a-half between plea and sentencing, despite the fact that the offense date predated the offense in the case at hand. Thus, the "landscape had changed" only because the State decided to change the landscape. Sheboygan County Case No. 2021CF000495, Wisconsin Circuit Court Access (WCCA), https://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetail.html?caseNo=2021CF000495&countyNo=59&index=0&mode=details.

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 16 of 23

was a breach because, "the prosecutor's comments implied that circumstances had changed since the plea bargain, and that had the state known of the other instances of defendant's misconduct, they would not have made the agreement they did." *Id.* at 364.

In sum, although the State spoke the terms of the plea agreement at the sentencing hearing, the State's bare endorsement of the agreement was not adequate to overcome the "cloud" cast upon the sentencing hearing by the State's remarks. Mr. Hamilton should be granted a resentencing hearing.

C. This Court should hold that, in close cases where it is alleged that the State breached the plea agreement by undercutting its agreed-upon sentencing recommendation, ambiguity should be resolved in favor of the defendant.

In Mr. Hamilton's case, both the circuit court and court of appeals emphasized how close this case was—before ultimately ruling in favor of the State. If this was such a close case, the courts should have ruled in favor of Mr. Hamilton. In 2002, this Court declined the defendant's request to adopt a "close case" rule in *Williams*, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶17. However, Mr. Hamilton disagrees with the reasoning in

Williams, and believes that the issue should be revisited.⁵

As this Court explained in *Williams*, "close cases are those in which it is difficult to discern whether the State presented information to the circuit court in a way that implied that the State had second thoughts about the plea agreement." Id., ¶16. The Court defined the proposed close case rule as follows: "plea agreements should be construed in favor of the defendants." Id., ¶17 (quoting Witte, 245 N.W.2d at 439). The Court next observed that the defendant, Williams, "interprets the close case rule to create a standard that is 'lower' than the 'preponderance of the evidence' standard." Williams, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶17.6 Mr. Hamilton agrees with the definition of "close case" as set forth in Williams. He also agrees with the description of the rule, that "plea agreements should be construed in favor of the defendants." However, he disagrees with the remainder of the court's analysis.

The *Williams* court declined the proposed close case rule "for several reasons." First, Wisconsin courts had not applied the close case rule in previous cases. 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶19. Second, "determinations of

⁵ Ultimately, *Williams* reached the correct result, and a relatively short portion of the decision was dedicated to the proposed close case rule. Therefore, Mr. Hamilton does not argue that the case should be overruled—only modified.

⁶ At the same time, the Court clarified that the defendant is not required to prove by "clear and convincing evidence" that a breach occurred. That, too, would incorrectly apply an evidentiary standard of persuasion. *Id*.

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 18 of 23

questions of law are not ordinarily discussed in terms of burden of persuasion." *Id.* Third, the close case rule did "not give sufficient recognition" to the values the State used to argue in favor of the clear and convincing evidence rule (*e.g.* finality of judgments, the free flow of information to sentencing courts, the protection of legislatively mandated rights of crime victims, and the importance of negotiated pleas in efficiently disposing of criminal cases while protecting the public). *Id.*

Mr. Hamilton disagrees that the "close case" rule is an evidentiary burden of persuasion. The defendant in *Williams* had apparently argued that the "close case" rule would create a standard that was "lower" than the "preponderance of the evidence" standard. Williams, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶17. It is not surprising that the Williams court was not persuaded to adopt the rule when framed as an evidentiary standard of proof. Yet, a rule that resolves ambiguity in favor of the defendant is not an evidentiary rule of persuasion; it is a legal standard of review. An analogy can be made to the rule of lenity in a challenge to a statute. State v. Kizer, 2022 WI 58, ¶27, 403 Wis. 2d 142, 976 N.W.2d 356 ("[w]hen an ambiguity exists in a criminal statute, we apply the rule of lenity to resolve the ambiguity in the defendant's favor unless the legislative history clarifies the statute's meaning"). The rule of lenity does not place a burden on the party. It guides the reviewing court. Similarly, when reviewing a grant of directed verdict, "in close cases the better practice is to reserve ruling on the motion for directed verdict and submit the matter to the jury." Tombal v. Farmers Ins. Exchange, 62 Wis. 2d 64, 72,

214 N.W.2d 291 (1974). This is a standard of review, not a burden of persuasion.

Cases from other jurisdictions that consider this issue do not discuss the standard as a burden of persuasion. In the court of appeals decision in Williams, the court of appeals relied favorably on a Minnesota case, State v. Witte, 245 N.W.2d 438, 439 (Minn. 1976). In Witte, the prosecution agreed to make no recommendation as to sentence. At the sentencing hearing, the prosecutor stated that it had "no formal recommendation," however it "would indicate for the record" the substance of the juvenile authority's recommendation. Id. at 216. The Witte court held that,

Although the issue is not free from doubt, since it can be argued that the prosecutor presented information, not his personal recommendation, we think that in close cases plea agreements should be construed to favor defendants. This practice best serves the important interest in fair, honest, and open plea bargaining as an integral part of the criminal justice system.

Id. at 439. This was not framed as an evidentiary burden on either party, but rather, a standard for the reviewing court to apply.

Federal courts also "construe ambiguities in favor of the defendant..." when evaluating alleged plea breaches. *United States v. Quach*, 302 F.3d 1096, 1100-01 (9th Cir. 2002). *See also, United States v. Munoz*,

 $^{^7}$ State v. Williams, 2000 WI App 7, $\P 7, 241$ Wis. 2d 1, 624 N.W.2d 164.

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 20 of 23

718 F.3d 726 (7th Cir. 2013) (using contract law principles, though with an eye to "the special public-interest concerns" and construing ambiguities against the government); *Abbott v. United States*, 871 A.2d 514, 520 (DC Ct. App. 2005) ("the government is held to 'a standard of strict compliance with its agreement,' and this court 'will construe any ambiguity against the government.") (quoted source omitted).

Several courts construe ambiguities against the government "both in promise and performance." In re Altro, 180 F.3d 372, 375 (2nd Cir. 1999) (emphasis added). In other words, the rule of construction applies both to review of the terms of the agreement, as well as review of the State's conduct. See White v. United States, 425 A.2d 616, 618 (DC Ct App 1980) (when considering whether the State's sentencing comments amounted to an implicit breach of the plea agreement, the court will construe "ambiguity against the government"); United States v. Velez Carrero, 77 F.3d 11, 11 (1st Cir. 1996) (holding prosecutors "to the most meticulous standards of both promise and performance") (quoted source omitted).

The Williams court was concerned that a close case rule would not give sufficient recognition to the values argued by the State, including finality of judgments, the protection of victims' rights, and the importance of negotiated pleas in efficiently disposing of criminal cases. 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶19. Yet, these values will in fact be furthered by a rule that resolves close cases in favor of the defendant, because such a rule would incentivize prosecutors to faithfully uphold

Case 2022AP001350 Petition for Review Filed 03-27-2023 Page 21 of 23

their plea agreements. This would promote finality for the courts and victims by avoiding appeals, while also incentivizing defendants to enter pleas by assuring them that the State will abide by its promises. The court was also concerned about hindering the free-flow of information to the court; yet, Mr. Hamilton concedes that the State was permitted to present information to the court about the new case. *See Liukonen*, 276 Wis. 2d 64, ¶10. It was the State's unnecessary and improper commentary distancing itself from the plea agreement that caused the breach.

This Court should grant review and hold that, in close cases where it is alleged that the State breached the plea agreement by undercutting its agreed-upon sentencing recommendation, ambiguity should be resolved in favor of the defendant.

D. Trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the State's plea breach.

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