Filed 04-24-2023

FILED 04-24-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2022AP1350-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEREMY JOSEPH HAMILTON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KIERAN M. O'DAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1113772

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

ARGUMENT

I. This Court should not take up Hamilton's invitation to create a new, amorphous standard of review for deciding breach-of-plea-agreement cases.

The crux of Hamilton's petition to this Court is his desire for this Court to implement a new "close case" rule. (Pet. 16-21.) While he recognizes that this Court expressly rejected such a rule twenty years ago, he asks that that decision be "revisited." (Pet. 16-17.) Not so. This Court's decision in *Williams* to avoid the creation of any "close case" rule was and remains sound in principle, and it should not be overruled.

Over twenty years ago, this Court was faced with a similar request. In *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 1, ¶¶ 4-20, 249 Wis. 2d 492, 637 N.W.2d 733, the parties presented competing standards of review to this Court. The State advocated for a "clear and convincing" standard whereas the defendant urged this Court to "follow the court of appeals and adopt the close case rule." *Id.* ¶¶ 12-18. This Court described the close case rule as one that permits "a court [to] rule that the prosecutor breached the plea agreement even if it is more likely that there was no breach, as long as it is 'close.' In other words, if a court is unsure as to whether a breach occurred, but it is a 'close call,' then the defendant should prevail." *Id.* ¶ 17 (citations omitted).

This Court declined to adopt the rule. Id. ¶ 19. This Court first recognized that it hadn't adopted such a rule in the past, and adopting the rule would be "inconsistent with precedent." Id. This Court also declined to adopt a rule that considers standards of review in terms of burdens of persuasion, and it concluded that the close case rule would "not give sufficient recognition to the values described by the State in arguing in favor of the clear and convincing evidence rule." Id.

This Court explicitly "reject[ed] ... the close case rule." Id. ¶ 20. To be sure, this Court also rejected the State's clear and convincing standard. Id. This Court instead adopted a standard of review akin to the constitutional fact standard, whereby the circuit court's findings of historical fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous, and appellate courts independently apply those facts to determine whether a prosecutor substantially and materially breached a plea agreement. Id.

Hamilton undertakes no meaningful stare decisis analysis to overrule this Court's express rejection of the close case rule. (See generally Pet. 16–21.) Instead, he sidesteps stare decisis entirely, asserting that he is asking this Court to only "modify" its conclusion in Williams. (Pet. 17 n.5.) But that simply isn't true. The standard of review was an express holding of Williams, and this Court would have to overrule it, at least in part, to adopt Hamilton's proffered rule. Absent any effort from Hamilton to explain why this Court's rejection of the close case rule was wrong twenty years ago or is now unworkable in practice, this Court should again decline to take it up.

Moreover, the federal cases that Hamilton cites do not move the ball forward. Every circuit holds that ambiguities in the *terms* of the plea agreement are construed against the government. See United States v. Munoz, 718 F.3d 726, 729 (7th Cir. 2013) ("[W]e interpret a plea agreement based on the parties' reasonable expectations and construe ambiguities against the government as the drafter. (emphasis added)).² Our court of appeals has already soundly rejected that principle. State v. Wesley, 2009 WI App 118, ¶ 18, 321 Wis. 2d 151, 772 N.W.2d 232 ("[W]e do not construe plea bargains against the drafter in Wisconsin."). Further, the District of Columbia Court of Appeals relies on and merely restates the Witte³ rule that this Court already rejected in Williams. See, e.g., White v. United States, 425 A.2d 616, 618–19 (D.C. Ct. App. 1980).

Aside from Hamilton's inability to show why Williams should be overruled in part, he does not provide this Court with any guidance as to what the close case rule would entail or how it would be applied. He does not explain when a case is "close" or "ambiguous" enough to invoke the rule. He does not explain whether the rule would mean a court must automatically find that there was a substantial and material breach or whether a technical breach will do. He does not explain how the close case rule would interact with this Court's most recent breach-of-plea-agreement case, State v.

³ State v. Witte, 245 N.W.2d 438 (Minn. 1976).

² Accord United States v. Newbert, 504 F.3d 180, 185 (1st Cir. 2007) ("Ambiguities in plea agreements are construed against the government."); Innes v. Dalsheim, 864 F.2d 974, 979 (2d Cir. 1988); United States v. Williams, 510 F.3d 416, 422 (3d Cir. 2007) ("[A]ny ambiguities in a plea agreement must be construed against the government." (emphasis added)); United States v. Harvey, 791 F.2d 294, 300 (4th Cir. 1986); United States v. Escobedo, 757 F.3d 229, 233 (5th Cir. 2014); United States v. Johnson, 979 F.2d 396, 399 (6th Cir. 1992) ("B)oth constitutional and supervisory concerns require holding the government to a greater degree of responsibility than the defendant . . . for imprecisions or ambiguities in the plea agreements."); United States v. Jensen, 423 F.3d 851, 854 (8th Cir. 2005); United States v. De la Fuente, 8 F.3d 1333, 1338 (9th Cir. 1993) ("As with other contracts, provisions of plea agreements are occasionally ambiguous; the government 'ordinarily must bear responsibility for any lack of clarity." (emphasis added) (citation omitted)); United States v. Werner, 317 F.3d 1168, 1170 (10th Cir. 2003); United States v. Jefferies, 908 F.2d 1520, 1523 (11th Cir. 1990); United States v. Murray, 897 F.3d 298, 304 (D.C. Cir. 2018).

Nietzold, 2023 WI 22, \P 9, 986 N.W.2d 795, wherein this Court held that "some breaches can be cured." Does the close case rule preclude further inquiry into whether the breach was cured? Relatedly, if courts must conduct a cure inquiry beyond the breach inquiry, what purpose does the close case rule serve? Hamilton does not say.

Without a showing that *Williams* was wrong or unworkable and with all of the above unanswered questions, this Court should decline to create a new imprecise rule when it has already established a familiar and workable standard of review for breach-of-plea-agreement cases.

II. Absent the creation of Hamilton's proffered rule, this case is nothing more than error correction.

Outside of his request for this Court to implement the close case rule, Hamilton seeks nothing but error correction. True, the circuit court and the court of appeals concluded that the case was "close," but each court ultimately concluded that there was *no* breach.⁴ Hamilton, 2023 WL 2293962, ¶¶ 14, 25. Breach-of-plea-agreement cases are highly fact bound, and the court of appeals addressed the essential facts of this case to conclude there was no breach. *Id.* ¶¶ 17–24.

The court of appeals, while acknowledging the prosecutor's language was "inartful," noted the prosecutor's contemporaneous reaffirmation of the State's sentencing recommendation. Id. ¶¶ 18, 21–24. It noted that in the first sentencing hearing the prosecutor "asked the circuit court no fewer than seven times to follow the State's sentencing recommendation." Id. ¶ 21. At the subsequent hearing, and despite his statement that the landscape had changed, the prosecutor repeatedly affirmed that he was standing by the

⁴ For that reason, even if this Court adopted the close case rule, it would not matter to Hamilton's case because neither court was "unsure" as to whether a breach occurred. See Williams, 249 Wis. 2d 492, \P 17.

State's recommendation. Id. ¶ 22. He at least twice reiterated that the State was not recommending jail time or prison, and he made no argument beyond that which he made at the prior hearing. Id. ¶¶ 22–23.

The court of appeals concluded that the prosecutor "ardently stuck to and repeatedly asked the circuit court to go along with the sentencing recommendation." *Id.* ¶ 24. Unlike in *Williams*, the court of appeals here concluded that "[t]he record does not suggest the prosecutor was trying to do a nod, nod, wink, wink in an attempt to get the court to impose a stiffer sentence than the agreed-upon recommendation." *Id.* ¶ 24; *Williams*, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶¶ 47–52. Relying on *State v. Wood*, 2013 WI App 88, ¶ 9, 349 Wis. 2d 397, 835 N.W.2d 527, the court of appeals concluded that the prosecutor did not "covertly convey to the trial court that a more severe sentence is warranted than that recommended." *Hamilton*, 2023 WL 2293962, ¶ 24.

Hamilton simply disagrees with the lower courts' decisions, but his disagreement does not warrant this Court's review. Applying this Court's well-established standard of review, and its equally well-established breach-of-plea-agreement jurisprudence just as the circuit court and court of appeals did, this Court would come to the same conclusions as those courts,⁵ and "[t]here are much better uses of this [C]ourt's time than repeating work already done correctly by a lower court."⁶ State v. Lee, 2022 WI 32, ¶ 2, 401 Wis. 2d 593, 973 N.W.2d 764 (R.G. Bradley, J., concurring to the per

⁵ Because there was no breach of the plea agreement, counsel could not have performed deficiently for failing to object, and there is no need to remand for a *Machner* hearing.

⁶ Even if this Court concluded that the prosecutor's comments constituted a substantial and material breach, it could easily conclude, like the circuit court did, that that breach was cured by its subsequent comments, which steadfastly stood by the State's recommendation and specifically disavowed a prison sentence. In that sense, this Court would simply be affirming on different grounds.

curiam dismissal of the case as improvidently granted) (per curiam).

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Hamilton's petition for review.